#### FILED

05/13/2019

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 18-0611

#### IN THE SUPREME FOR THE MONTANA

#### No. DA 18-0611

#### IN THE MATTER OF:

S.Y.,

A Youth In Need Of Care.

#### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

On Appeal from Montana's Fourth Judicial District, Missoula County, The Honorable Karen S. Townsend Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT:

GREGORY D. BIRDSONG Birdsong Law Office, PC P.O. Box 5899 Missoula, MT 59806

### ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF AND APPELLEE:

Timothy C. Fox Tammy Plubell Montana Attorney General's Office P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the Montana putative father registry statutes deprived K.P. of Equal Protection and Due Process of Law.

2. Whether the Montana putative father statutes, as implemented by the Department of Health and Human Services (the Department) violate the K.P.'s due process rights.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Father and Appellant, K.P., appeals the Order, entered September 25, 2018 by the Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, terminating his parental rights to S.Y. (5 years old). (Appendix A) The rights of the child's birth mother, K.Y. and the child's presumptive father, A.Y., were subsequently terminated as well. (DC117, DC125)

#### **Procedural History**

The case originated February 24, 2015, when the Missoula County Attorney filed a Petition for Emergency Protective Services (EPS), Adjudication as Youth In Need of Care (YINC), and Temporary Legal Custody (TLC) on behalf of the Department of Health and Human Services (the Department). (DC001) The Department alleged S.Y. was, or was in danger of being, abused or neglected within the meaning of Mont. Code Ann. §41-3-102. (*Id.*) The Petition was

supported by the Affidavit of Child Protection Specialist (CPS) Marc Elich. (DC001, Attachment)

The district court granted the Department's Petition and set a show cause hearing for March 10, 2015. (DC003) The court appointed a Court Appointed Special Advocate Volunteer (CASA Volunteer) for the child, S.Y., and appointed counsel for the biological mother, K.Y. and the presumptive father, A.Y. through the Office of the State Public Defender (the OPD)<sup>1</sup> (*Id.*) On the district court's order, an Intervention Conference before the Standing Master preceded the show cause hearing. (DC006, DC007)

The district court held the show cause hearing on March 10, 2015. (DC008) The birth mother, K.Y., stipulated to CLC and adjudication of S.Y. as YINC. (*Id.*) K.Y. also stipulated to a treatment plan, which was submitted and approved by the court. (*Id.*, DC009) The district court was advised the putative father, A.Y., was incarcerated and that the court would need to order the OPD to provide counsel. (DC008)<sup>2</sup> The court set a show cause hearing regarding A.Y. for April 7, 2015 and a status conference regarding K.Y. for June 2, 2015. (*Id.*)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the time, A.Y. was presumed to be the biological father of S.Y. It was subsequently determined K.P. was, in fact the child's biological father.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The OPD had been advised that A.Y. was deceased and had, therefore, not provided counsel for him pursuant to the court's previous order. A.Y. was subsequently determined to have been incarcerated, not decease.

A.Y.'s show cause hearing was continued to May 5, 2015. (DC013, DC015) The court was advised, through counsel, that A.Y. stipulated to adjudication and TLC, and was in the process of reviewing a proposed treatment plan. (DC015)

September 5, 2017, at a status conference, the State advised the district court that both A.Y. and K.Y. had recently stated that A.Y. was not the natural father of S.Y. and asked K.Y. – who was present at the hearing – to identify S.Y.'s biological father. (DC052, 9/4/2017 Hrg. Tr. 105:2-14) K.Y. said she could not "pinpoint who it was" and that, "there were several guys in my life at that time." (9/4/2017 Hrg. Tr. 105:15-21) Counsel for A.Y. advised he would not object to a paternity test, and the State said it would work on notifying putative fathers. (DC052) September 6, 2017 the court ordered A.Y. to take a paternity test.

October 25, 2017 the State filed a paternity test that established A.Y. was not the biological father of S.Y. (DC060) February 27, 2018 the district court was advised that both K.Y. and A.Y. stated they knew the identity of S.Y.'s biological father. (DC069)

March 23, 2018 the State filed a Petition for Termination of Mother's and Father's Parental Rights in which it asked the district court to terminate the parental rights of "K.Y., A.Y., K.P., 'Jimmy,' 'Dave,' 'Chris,' and any and all putative fathers of S.Y." (DC072) The State advises the district court that, "The mother informed the parties that there are multiple putative fathers of the Youth: K.P., Jimmy, Dave, Chris, and another unidentified man who she did not have a name for. CFS is in the process of attempting to make contact with putative fathers and establish paternity." (*Id.*, p13) The Petition asserted that the district court, "may terminate the parent-child legal relationship between the Youth and any and all putative fathers, including K.P., Jimmy, Dave, and Chris, for abandonment." (*Id.*, p12)

April 12, 2018 the State requested the district court appoint counsel for K.P. (DC076) The State asserts that K.Y., "identified K.P. as being a possible father of the youth nearly three years into the case and at a time when CFS was preparing to file a petition for termination of parental rights." (*Id.*) The court entered an order appointing counsel for K.P. and setting a hearing for the termination of "any and all putative fathers' parental rights, including K.P." for May 14, 2018. (DC077)

April 27, 2018 upon motion by the State, the district court vacated the termination hearing to allow time to get the results from a paternity test K.P. had submitted and set the hearing as a status hearing. (DC080, DC081) At the May 14, 2018 status hearing, K.P. advised the court the paternity test had established he was the biological father of S.Y. (DC082) The court set a status conference for June 19, 2018. (*Id.*)

May 25, 2018, upon the State's motion, the court ordered an intervention conference prior to the June 19, 2018 status hearing. (*Id.*) K.P. was present at the

intervention conference, at which he asserted his desire to establish a relationship with S.Y. (DC088) At the June 19, 2018 status hearing, the court set a termination hearing for K.P.'s parental rights to S.Y. for August 27, 2018 and a termination hearing regarding K.Y. and A.Y. for September 10, 2018. (DC086) July 2, 2018 the district court granted the unopposed motion of the maternal grandparents, G.E. and J.E. to intervene as parties in the matter. (DC090) July 10, 2018 the State filed the paternity test establishing K.P. as the biological father of S.Y. (DC093)

At the conclusion of the August 27, 2018 termination hearing, the district court directed counsel to file briefs by September 5, 2018. (DC098) The maternal grandparents and counsel for the child filed briefs supporting termination of K.P.'s parental rights. (DC101, DC102) K.P. did not file a brief. September 25, 2018 the district court entered its order terminating K.P.'s parental rights to S.Y. supported by findings of fact and conclusions of law. (DC104) The court entered a final judgment on September 28, 2018. (DC104.1) K.P.'s Notice of Appeal was filed October 26, 2018. (DC112.1)

#### Facts of the Case

**Status Hearing – September 5, 2017.** At the September 5, 2017 hearing the question of S.Y.'s paternity was raised for the first time. (9/5/2017 Hrg. Tr.) The State told district court,

[I]t's my understanding A.Y. recently told CFS that he is not the biological father of S.Y. now that we are two plus years into the case. And I believe Rebecca asked the mom about that today and she also said that he's not the father. No one has ever mentioned that before and that's typically a question that we ask at the beginning of cases.

(9/5/2017 Hrg. Tr. 105:3-9)

K.Y. was present at the hearing and, the following exchange took place

between her and counsel for the State:

MS. HENKEL: ....And I would also ask the mother here today if she can give us other possible fathers of S.Y. MOTHER: I'm not 100 percent sure, I was up in Great Falls. I can't pinpoint who it was. MS. HENKEL: Do you have any ideas at all beyond A.Y.? MOTHER: I have been with -- when I was in Great Falls there were -- I did my own thing and there were several guys in my life at that time. MS. HENKEL: Can you name who the several guys were? MOTHER: I remember there was a Dave, a Kyle and a Chris. And I can't remember the other ones. MS. HENKEL: Do you have any last names? MOTHER: I don't remember them. MS. HENKEL: Any contact information or like work info for any of them? MOTHER: No, I lost contact with them when I left Great Falls. MS. HENKEL: Is it possible that A.Y. is the father? MOTHER: No, he wasn't present.

Hearing on Extension of TLC – February 27, 2018. At the February 27,

2018 hearing on the State's fourth motion to extend TLC, the State reported a

belief that K.Y. and A.Y. knew the identity of S.Y.'s biological father. (2/27/2018

Hrg. Tr. 127:24-128:9) When questioned, K.Y. was slightly more forthcoming than

before, regarding who might be S.Y.'s biological father:

MS. HENKEL: ....Could we have that name today, please?

MOTHER: I know of a few guys that I was with up in Great Falls. I don't know like the specific one. It was like three.

MS\_HENKEL: Can you give me the three names

MS. HENKEL: Can you give me the three names.

MOTHER: I know Kyle. I know a guy named Jimmy and I can't remember the last one.

MS. HENKEL: Do you know the last names of Kyle and Jimmy? MOTHER: Kyle is Kyle Preston. And Jimmy, I don't. He never told me what his last name was.

MS. HENKEL: And you believe they are in Great Falls? MOTHER: Yes.

MS. HENKEL: Do you have any contact information for any of them?

MOTHER: No, I have not contacted them ever since I moved to Missoula.

MS. HENKEL: Okay. Any idea where they live or work? MOTHER: No.

(2/27/2018 Hrg. Tr. 129:10-130:6)

Status Hearing – March 13, 2018. The State and counsel for the child

made the following report to the district court at the March 13, 2018 status hearing:

MS. ALTHAUSER: Your Honor, I'll mention I talked with the grandmother where S.Y. is placed and she was confident in one of the names that K.Y. gave last week. Now of course it's slipped my mind, as I need to say it but --

MS. HENKEL: K.P.?

MS. ALTHAUSER: Yeah.

MS. HENKEL: That's the only full name we have.

MS. ALTHAUSER: And then he was a pretty dangerous person, and so I think it would be important to try and find him specifically in a safe manner so that he could be specifically -- his rights terminated.<sup>3</sup>

(3/13/2018 Hrg. Tr. 134:19-135:18)6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This was a false statement. Evidence would eventually make it clear that K.P. was not a dangerous or violent person.

**Status Hearing – May 14, 2018.** K.P. was present, and represented by counsel, at the May 14, 2018 status hearing. (DC082) K.P.'s attorney advised the district court that a paternity test had proven K.P. was the biological father of S.Y. (5/14/2018 Hrg. Tr. 138:9-11) S.Y.'s attorney told the court they were having difficulty determining if, when, and to what extent K.Y. an her family established contact with K.P. regarding his paternity of S.Y. (*Id.* 141:12-25)

**Termination Hearing – August 27, 2018.** K.P. was present for the Termination Hearing. (8/27/2018 Hearing Tr. 5:16)

**Biological Father, K.P.** K.P. was called as the first witness for the State. (*Id.* 158:2) K.P. testified he became romantically involved with K.Y. in 2012, that K.Y. was married to A.Y. – who was in "prison or jail," and that K.Y. and her son lived with K.P. during the time of the relationship. (*Id.* 159:9-160:8) K.P. said that, at the time he started seeing K.Y. she was dating another one of the men identified by K.Y. as a putative father of S.Y. (*Id.* 181:24-182:2) K.P. said the relationship lasted less than nine months, and ended in in April 2013. (*Id.* 160:9-19) K.P. testified he met K.Y.'s parents twice during the relationship. (*Id.* 160:24-162) K.P. testified he did not know where K.Y.'s parents lived, and that K.Y. never discussed her parents with him. (*Id.* 162:9-163:5)

K.P. testified he found out K.Y. was pregnant shortly after the relationship began. (8/27/2018 Hrg. Tr. 164:4-14) K.P. said that he accompanied K.Y. to get a

blood test and, when the results indicated she was pregnant, "I went straight to my mother and told her about it." (*Id.* 164:4-24) K.P. testified he was "excited to be a father. Excited to give my mom her first grandkid." (*Id.* 185:8-10) K.P. said he attended as many of K.Y.'s prenatal examination as his work allowed. (*Id.* 164:25-165:2) K.P. estimated he had gone to five or six appointments including her first two ultrasounds. (*Id.* 185:16-185:12) K.P. said he took both sonograms to his mother as soon as he got them and, when he saw the second sonogram he "went straight to my mom, excited to show her the picture of her granddaughter's first picture of her face." (*Id.* 187:12-188:4)

K.P. denied knowledge of K.Y.'s prior substance abuse issues, and said he didn't see signs of it during the relationship. (*Id.* 165:5-14) K.P. said he and K.Y. started arguing because he wanted her to divorce A.Y., and that he didn't remember exactly how he found out she was leaving. (*Id.* 165:21-25) K.P. testified he was at work when someone "called or something." (*Id.* 166:2-5) K.P. said he went home to find K.Y. "packing her stuff up and leaving." (*Id.* 166:5-7) "And she said she had to get to Missoula because something was seriously wrong with her father. He was sick and dying." (*Id.* 166:8-10)

K.P. testified that, a month or two later, he found out from a mutual friend or acquaintance that K.Y. didn't go to Missoula and that S.Y. had been born.

(8/27/2018 Hrg. Tr. 167:1-11) "She was staying in Great Falls, which at the time I

didn't know." (Id.) K.P. said that, when he found out S.Y. was born:

I had went down to the CFS (Child and Family Services) office and tried making a report to try and find her. They said to go to the police station to make a report. I went to the police station and they did not make a report because "your girlfriend dumped you." We don't need to make a report.

(Id. 167:21-25, see also Id. at 190:20-191:2)

K.P. testified he tried to call K.Y. and to contact her through K.Y.'s friends

and through Facebook:

The first -- when I sent her a friend request she sent a message asking me why and I mentioned we had a daughter together and for at least two weeks after that, sent a message here and there to try and communicate with her. She never responded back. (8/27/2018 Hrg. Tr. 168:13-18, 190:15-16,App. B-002, Pet. Exh. 1)

K.P. testified that, K.Y. did not respond to his messages and that, after about 2 weeks, he stopped trying to contact her. (*Id.* 170:2-22) When asked if he offered to provide financial support for S.Y., K.P. responded, "No. I just wanted to at least get to meet her, find out if she's even mine, because prior to that she had said it wasn't mine." (*Id.* 170:23-171:3) K.P. testified that, despite K.Y.'s denial, he had believed S.Y. was his child at that time. (*Id.* 171:7-8) K.P. said he occasionally checked K.Y.'s Facebook profile but, "but there was never any evidence of S.Y. in any of that." (*Id.* 172:2-5)

K.P. testified that he did not talk to an attorney or go to the Cascade County Self Help Law Center. (8/27/2018 Hrg. Tr. 172:6-12) When asked if he had called the Child Support Enforcement Division, K.P. said, "I thought when I went down to the CFS office that's what I was doing, rather than making a phone call I was there in person." (*Id.* 172:14-16) When asked if he registered with the putative father registry, K.P. responded, "I didn't know that existed until this case started." (*Id.* 172:20-22) K.P. testified that neither the police nor CFS told him about the putative father registry and that, if had known about it, he would have registered. (*Id.* 191:3-9) K.P. said that – after trying to contact K.Y. by phone, through friends, going to the police and CFS – he didn't pursue other efforts to contact K.Y. because he didn't know anything else he could do and, "I believed if I continued to bother her it would be known as harassment." (*Id.* 191:10-13, 173:3-6)

K.P. testified that he was completely ignorant of the agencies and procedures for asserting his parental rights. (8/17/17 Hrg. Tr. 230:8 et seq.) When asked if he had taken steps to establish a parenting plan, K.P. responded, "I did not know how to go about that. From my understanding, parenting plans are like court ordered from a judge. When we look some up online it was this judge for this case and this was the parenting plan and when we looked into it further, it seemed like we had to have a judge issue a parenting plan in the first place. That you don't just apply for one." (*Id.* 230:10-16) K.P. said he didn't know about the family law self help center, observing, "Seems like they could have told me about that in the CFS office when I went there in Great Falls. I think maybe they could have gave me some information that might have helped." (*Id.* 230:21-24)

K.P. testified that K.P. told him at one point that he wasn't S.Y's biological father. (8/27/2018 191:14-16) K.P. said he didn't think K.P. was "cheating on me at the time," but "there was question about it." (*Id.* 191:17-21) As time passed, K.P. said he didn't continue to believe S.Y. was his child, "I think it would be more like hoping at that point....I started to believe she wasn't mine towards the end."

K.P. testified he had been employed for the past five years and owned his own home, and he would have been able to provide financial support for S.Y. if he had been involved with her. (8/27/2018 Hrg Tr. 174:4-12) K.P. testified that he did not know of any way he could have provided financial support for S.Y. (DC205:9-12) K.P. said did not know where S.Y. was but, had he been certain she was his child and known of a way to financially support her during the five years since her birth, he would have done so, "Definitely." (*Id*.15-18) K.P. testified that, before K.Y. left and broke all contact with him, he had planned to financially support S.Y. (*Id*.206:19-21) K.P. said, "I thought we were going to be a family. I didn't expect it to go the way it did." K.P. testified that, when he had the opportunity to provide for S.Y., he had done so. (8/27/2018 Hrg. Tr. 242:6 et seq.) During the time K.Y. lived with him, K.P. said he had provided a stable home, and financial support for K.Y. and her son. (*Id.*)

When asked by counsel for the maternal grandparents why he did not financially, support S.Y. after K.Y. took her away, K.P. explained his quandary, "I did not have a daughter to that point. It was no proof that she was mine. I was told she was not mine. And A.Y.'s name was on the birth certificate, making it his daughter and I had no choice in the matter." (8/27/2018 Hrg. Tr. 228:25-229:5) K.P. agreed he had not sought legal counsel, saying, "I didn't know where to go or what to do." (*Id.* 229:6-8)

K.P. said he did not feel it was in S.Y.'s best interest for him to aggressively seek K.Y. and pursue a parental relationship against the resistance of K.Y. (*Id.* 227:19-24) A.Y. and disagreed with counsel's characterization of his testimony as, "not having a relationship was a tradeoff for not causing conflict," noting the possible criminal liability of doing so: "I figured if I continued to try and harass and stalk and find my daughter, I would be facing charges. And then today I wouldn't be sitting here on this case. I would be having another case." (*Id.* 227:25-228:5) In response to questioning about his responsibility to have taken further steps, K.P. asked, "What steps would I have taken? Like I said, I had no

knowledge of what I could do. Other than harass somebody to try and see my daughter, which is against the law." (*Id.* 231:21-232:1)

K.P. testified he had extensive family in Great Falls, including a twin brother, a sister, two aunts and his parents, who lived, "right around the corner from me on the same block." (*Id.* 179:7-14) K.P. testified that

K.P. testified that, he contacted CFS as soon as he got served and found out he was on the list of putative fathers of S.Y. (8/27/2018 Hrg. Tr. 194:14-195:4) He "got scheduled for a DNA test as soon as possible." (*Id.*) K.P. said that, upon finding out he might be S.Y.'s father, he was "[r]eally excited, nervous, scared. Mostly excited about being a father but of course there was some fears." (*Id.* 195:11-12) K.P. said that when he found out he was S.Y.'s father he felt, "Happy, excited, crying. I don't know. Like a kid on Christmas. Can't wait to open the Christmas present, just really excited." (*Id.* 196:3-7)

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