FILED

06/11/2019

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 18-0611

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 18-0611

IN THE MATTER OF:

S.Y.,

Youth in Need of Care.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, The Honorable Karen S. Townsend Presiding

APPEARANCES:

TIMOTHY C. FOX

Montana Attorney General

KATIE F. SCHULZ

Assistant Attorney General

GREGORY D. BIRDSONG

Birdsong Law Office, PC

P.O. Box 5899

Missoula, MT 59806

Assistant Attorney General Missoula, MT 59806
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401 ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT

Helena, MT 59620-1401 AND APPELLANT FATHER

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

K.P.'s appeal should be dismissed because he failed to present any constitutional arguments to the district court for its consideration and, therefore, failed to preserve his challenges for appeal. K.P. offers no legal argument to excuse his failure to raise this argument below and allow this Court to nonetheless reach his claims. Nor has K.P. set forth any extraordinary circumstances or even suggested plain error review should be applied. Moreover, this Court has consistently held that whenever possible, courts should resolve the merits of a case without resorting to consideration of any constitutional question presented. Based upon this Court's rules of appellate review, and the fact that resolution of the constitutional issue would have no bearing on the trial court's TPR order, this Court should decline to consider K.P.'s arguments on appeal about the constitutionality of the Registry.

Significantly, the district court terminated K.P.'s parental rights based on the theory of abandonment and not the fact that he did not register as a putative father. Thus, K.P. was not prejudiced by any findings related to the Registry. K.P. offers no factual or legal argument challenging the court's findings of fact as clearly erroneous. In fact, the record establishes that the court's findings were supported by substantial, credible evidence that established a reasonable belief that K.P. had no interest in caring for S.Y. It is undisputed that after August 2012 (three months

following S.Y.'s birth), K.P. made no inquiry into Mother's and S.Y.'s whereabouts and initiated no interest in parenting S.Y. until DPHHS contacted him in the spring of 2018. Whether K.P. registered as a putative father would not have altered the fact that he had done nothing to express an intent to care for S.Y. in years. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it terminated K.P.'s parental rights based on abandonment and it is unnecessary to consider the putative father statutes to affirm the TPR order.

Even if K.P.'s unpreserved arguments about the Registry are considered, this Court should reject them as unsupported in fact and law. K.P. failed to carry his burden and establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that statutes in question violate his due process and equal protection rights. In asserting his constitutional claims, K.P. misinterprets the purpose of the Registry as imposing an obligation upon him. Rather, those provisions are in place to provide potential fathers with an avenue for securing notice of future proceedings involving a child who may be theirs. Contrary to K.P.'s premise, when a possible father fails to take any action towards caring for his child's emotional or physical well-being or demonstrate an interest in exercising his right to parent, it does not offend his constitutional rights to treat his right to parent differently than the custodial parent who has established and fostered a relationship with the child.

ARGUMENT

I. K.P. failed to preserve constitutional claims for appellate review

The only argument K.P. presents on appeal is that the "Registry statutes deprived K.P. of Equal Protection and Due Process of Law." (Opening Brief (Br.).) However, since this is the first time K.P. asserted any constitutional claim, this Court is precluded from reviewing it on appeal.

It is axiomatic that this Court will not address an issue raised for the first time on appeal because it will not fault the trial court on an issue it was not given an opportunity to consider. *In re A.N.W.*, 2006 MT 42, ¶41, 331 Mont. 208, 130 P.3d 619. "In order to preserve a claim or objection for appeal, an appellant must first raise that specific claim or objection in the district court." *In re B.W.S.*, 2016 MT 340, ¶11, 386 Mont. 33, 386 P.3d 595 (citation omitted). This Court has consistently held that "when an appellant argues he was deprived of a fundamentally fair procedure, it [is] necessary that he make the same argument to the [d]istrict [c]ourt." *B.W.S.*, ¶11; *In re A.T.*, 2006 MT 35, ¶15, 331 Mont. 155, 130 P.3d 1249 (untimely objections are not heard on appeal because the time for correcting the error has passed; accordingly, failure to make a timely objection constitutes a waiver of the party's right to appeal).

Just like the appellants in *B.W.S.*, K.P. failed to raise any claim related to the constitutionality of the Registry statutes with the trial court. *B.W.S.*, *supra*;

A.N.W., ¶ 41; In re A.S., 2006 MT 281, ¶ 35, 334 Mont. 280, 146 P.3d 778 (faulting trial court for not addressing statutory issues that were not asserted "would encourage litigants to withhold objections rather than raise the issues appropriately in the district court."). K.P. did not give the trial court the opportunity to consider the constitutionality of the Registry or the applicability of the Registry to the TPR proceedings. He is, therefore, precluded from raising such issues now.

This Court has allowed review of an issue not objected to during a dependent neglect proceeding in only rare situations. For instance, when a pro se litigant failed to lodge objections in a case characterized as "muddled throughout," this Court noted "the extraordinarily confusing nature of [a hearing to continue temporary investigative authority]" and "misinformation repeatedly provided to mother by the district court" when it granted review. *In re M.O.*, 2003 MT 4, 314 Mont. 13, 62 P.3d 265 (held, mother's failure to object to termination of her parental rights was excusable).

This Court also allowed an appeal of an issue despite no contemporaneous objection when the matter fell under the Indian Child Welfare Act (ICWA) and the holding was based upon its jurisdictional power to review alleged violations of ICWA. *In re K.B.*, 2013 MT 133, ¶ 22, 370 Mont. 254, 301 P.3d 836 ("A 'court of competent jurisdiction' under 25 U.S.C. § 1914 has been held to include an appeals

court; thus, failure to comply with ICWA notice requirements may be raised for the first time on appeal."). The holding from *K.B.* is specific only to ICWA cases and does not forgive K.P.'s failure to challenge the constitutionality of the Registry provisions, and K.P. has not alleged sufficient extraordinary circumstances like those in *M.O.* to excuse his failure to present the claims he now brings on appeal.

Nor has K.P. requested this Court apply plain error review, which this Court applies sparingly even when it is properly asserted. *See In re H.T.*, 2015 MT 41, ¶ 14, 378 Mont. 206, 343 P.3d.159. Nor may K.P. raise such an argument in his reply brief. *See* Mont. R. App. P. 12(3) ("The reply brief must be confined to new matter raised in the brief of the appellee."); *State v. Sattler*, 1998 MT 57, ¶ 47, 288 Mont. 79, 956 P.2d 54 (legal theories raised for the first time in an appellant's reply brief are outside the scope of such a brief and this Court has repeatedly refused to address them).

Plain error review is applied only where "failing to review the claimed error may result in a manifest miscarriage of justice, may leave unsettled the question of the fundamental fairness of the trial or proceedings, or may compromise the integrity of the judicial process." *In re J.S.W.*, 2013 MT 34, ¶ 15, 369 Mont. 12, 303 P.3d 741; *H.T.*, ¶ 14; *In re D.A.*, 2008 MT 247, ¶¶ 33-34, 37, 344 Mont. 513, 189 P.3d 631 (Court declined to engage in plain error review of alleged due

process claim, noting the court's findings were issued pursuant to the statute and were supported by sufficient evidence.). As detailed more below, the district court did not terminate K.P.'s parental rights based on his failure to list his name on the Registry. Accordingly, plain error review is not warranted since K.P. could not establish how failing to address his unpreserved constitutional argument would result in a manifest miscarriage of justice. *D.A.*, *supra*.

Finally, this Court has repeatedly "recognized that courts should avoid constitutional issues whenever possible." *In re S.H.*, 2003 MT 366, ¶ 18, 319 Mont. 90, 86 P.3d 1027 (citation omitted). This Court has "held that certain constraints govern the Court's power to determine the constitutionality of statutes. Among those constraints is the principle that [this Court] will not rule on the constitutionality of a legislative act if [it is] able to decide the case without reaching constitutional considerations." *S.H.*, ¶ 18.

Significantly, when faced with a challenge to the constitutionality of the Registry, this Court declined to resolve the case on those grounds.

M.B.J. v. Fourth Judicial District Court, 2010 Mont. LEXIS 515 (2010) (Court granted petition for writ of supervisory control and reversed trial court's order that mother must disclose identity of birth father so he could be properly served; Court observed that regardless of resolution of constitutional issue, the matter would

need to be remanded with directions for accomplishing service upon putative father(s)). This Court stated,

For over a hundred years, we have held fast to the proposition that, where it is possible to resolve the merits of a case without resort to resolution of the constitutional question presented, we will do so. We will not pass upon the constitutionality of an act of the Legislature "unless it is absolutely necessary to a decision of the case." We should be especially mindful of this rule here, as declaring the Registry provisions unconstitutional could cast into question hundreds of adoptions finalized over the past 14 years in reliance upon [Montana Adoption] Act's provisions.

M.B.J., ¶ 6 (internal citations omitted).

This rule of appellate review is particularly relevant when, as was the case here, the district court was not presented with any legal argument or authority challenging its reliance on the Registry when determining whether K.P. "abandoned" his child as defined by the Montana Code Annotated. Moreover, since the district court did not, in fact, terminate K.P.'s parental rights under Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(e) (putative father), this Court may decide this case without considering K.P.'s unpreserved constitutional arguments.

K.P.'s failure to raise any constitutional claims against the Registry precludes this Court from considering them on appeal. K.P. has offered no justifiable basis or legal excuse for this Court to ignore its appellate rules and long-standing principles of review to nonetheless consider his arguments.

Moreover, K.P. cannot establish how he will suffer any prejudice if this Court does

not consider his constitutional challenges to the Registry since the district court did not rely upon those statutory provisions to terminate K.P.'s parental rights.

II. The district court properly terminated K.P.'s parental rights based on its supported findings and conclusions that K.P. "abandoned" S.Y.

"A parent's right to the care and custody of a child is a fundamental liberty interest which must be protected by fundamentally fair procedures. For that reason, the State must show by clear and convincing evidence" that the statutory criteria at Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609 are established before terminating a parent's rights. *In re S.S.*, 2002 MT 270, ¶ 8, 312 Mont. 343, 59 P.3d 393 (citing *In re A.E.*, 255 Mont. 56, 59, 840 P.2d 572, 574 (1992)); Mont. Code Ann. §§ 41-3-423(4), -422(5)(iv); *In re J.M.W.E.H.*, 1998 MT 18, ¶ 33, 287 Mont. 239, 954 P.2d 26 ("clear and convincing evidence" is "that quality of proof 'more than a mere preponderance but not beyond a reasonable doubt."").

The guiding principle in determining whether to terminate parental rights is always and foremost the best interest of the child: "the district court is bound to give primary consideration to the physical, mental, and emotional conditions and needs of the [child], thus, the best interests of the [child] are of paramount concern in a parental rights termination proceeding and take precedence over the parental rights." A.T., ¶ 20 (citation omitted). The best interest of the child is the primary

and paramount statutory standard for termination. *See*, *e.g.*, Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(3) (district court shall give "primary consideration to the physical, mental, and emotional conditions and needs of the child."); Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-101(4) (the child's health and safety are of paramount concern).

In its amended TPR petition, DPHHS alleged a district court may terminate K.P.'s parental rights if either of the following circumstances exist: "the child has been abandoned by the parent; [or] the parent has subjected a child to any of the circumstances listed in 41-3-423(2)(a) through (2)(e)." Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(b) and (d).² The relevant circumstance alleged by DPHHS under Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-423, was subsection (2)(a) ("subjected a child to aggravated circumstances, including but not limited to *abandonment*, torture, chronic abuse, or sexual abuse or chronic, severe neglect of a child). (Emphasis added).

As applied to K.P. and as alleged by DPHHS, "abandoned" means "leaving a child under circumstances that make reasonable the belief that the parent does not intend to resume care of the child in the future." Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-102(1)(a); *S.S.*, ¶ 9; *A.E.*, 255 Mont. at 60, 840 P.2d at 575 (no express time frame applies to the definition of abandonment under Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-102(1)(a)(i)). A trial

² In its first TPR petition, DPHHS asserted subsection Mont Code Ann. § 41-3-609(1)(e) with regard to K.P. however, it omitted this theory of termination in its amended TPR petition. (*See* Docs. 72, 91).

court may determine that a non-custodial father abandoned his child where the court finds that he did not intend to resume care of his child. *See In re M.W.*, 234 Mont. 530, 534, 764 P.2d 1279, 1282 (1988); *In re M.J.D.*, 225 Mont. 200, 205-06, 731 P.2d 937, 940 (1987).

As this Court has explained, "[a]bandonment is retrospective in nature, and requires evidence from the past to support a reasonable belief that the parent has left a child under circumstances indicating that the parent does not intend to resume care of the child." *S.S.*, ¶ 23. Here, the district court correctly determined K.P.'s past actions, or lack thereof, over a five-year period created a "reasonable belief" that K.P. did not intend to care for S.Y.

This Court has affirmed district court orders terminating parents' rights in several cases. *See e.g.*, *In re J.J.*, 2001 MT 131, 305 Mont. 431, 28 P.3d 1076; *In re M.J.W.*, 1998 MT 142, 289 Mont. 232, 961 P.2d 105; and *A.E.*, *supra*. In those cases, the district courts applied the appropriate sections of the code as well as the correct legal definition of "abandon" when evaluating evidence of the parents' lack of effort to contact either DPHHS or the other parent over a long period of time. The same is true here.

In its TPR order, the district court credited K.P. with his attempts to locate S.Y. and Mother in the months immediately following S.Y.'s birth. (Doc. 104 at 4-5 (noting eight social media messages over five days, phone calls, and one trip to

the local DPHHS office and police station).) However, these efforts were short-lived and, as the court found, it was undisputed that K.P. made no further attempts to find Mother or assert his parental rights after August 2013. (*Id.*) The court correctly found that K.P. offered no financial support to either S.Y. or Mother following S.Y.'s birth despite having the ability to do so. (*Id.*) The court found that K.P. did not seek assistance from available legal services options, DPHHS or CSED, and did not file anything with the Registry. (*Id.*)

The court also found that shortly after Mother left K.P., he began dating Jessica, who had a current case with DPHHS. (Doc. 104.) At the TPR hearing, K.P. admitted he stopped looking for S.Y. or Mother, claiming he feared being prosecuted for harassment if he continued and also stated that it would have been upsetting to Jessica if he pursued trying to get in touch with Mother and S.Y. (Hr'g at 228, 241.)

Finally, the court also made relevant and correct findings about S.Y.'s best interests, including her emotional and mental health, long-term consistent relationship with Grandparents, and connection to A.Y. (Doc. 104.) The court correctly found that K.P. was a stranger to S.Y., and noted concerns with delaying permanency for S.Y. (Doc. 104 at 11-13.)

K.P. offers no arguments or challenges to the court's findings or assessment of the evidence presented. As this Court consistently states, the credibility of

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